1998

Mathie v. Gough : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This is an appeal to this Court taken from the trial court's grant of permanent physical custody of the parties minor child to Respondent entered on January 31, 1997.

The jurisdiction of this Court is invoked pursuant to Section 78-2a-3(2)(h) Utah Code Ann. 1953, as amended.

ISSUES FOR REVIEW

A. Did the trial court abuse its discretion by giving give undue significance to Respondent as the primary caretaker of the parties' minor child in determining permanent custody when both parties had been co-caretakers of the child before the Respondent was granted temporary custody by the trial court and the reason Appellant did not have custody during that time was because of the temporary order?

Grounds for Review and Standard of Review

Appellant appeals the final order granting permanent custody to Respondent at a domestic trial held on January 31, 1997.

Trial court Judges are accorded broad discretion in determining the permanent physical custody of a minor child. *Tucker v. Tucker*, 910 P.2d 1209 (Utah 1996). Therefore, the standard of review of the Court is limited to a review of the trial court's findings of fact for an abuse of discretion.

Additionally, the issue was preserved at trial. *See Record* at 226-227.

B. Did the trial court abuse its discretion when it weighed the Appellants prior criminal history against him and for the Respondent in determining his fitness as a father when the criminal incidents occurred before the child was born and the Appellant has no criminal history after the birth of the child?

Grounds for Review and Standard of Review

Appellant appeals the final order granting permanent custody to Respondent at a domestic trial held on January 31, 1997.

Trial court Judges are accorded broad discretion in determining the permanent physical custody of a minor child. *Tucker v. Tucker*, 910 P.2d 1209 (Utah 1996). Therefore, the standard of review of the Court is limited to a review of the trial court's findings of fact for an abuse of discretion.

STATUTORY PROVISIONS

There are no statutory provisions related to the issues at hand. However, an analogous statute is found in Utah Code Ann. § 30-1-3(2):

In awarding custody, the court shall consider, among other factors the court finds relevant, which parent is most likely to act in the best interests of the child, including allowing the child frequent and continuing contact with the noncustodial parent as the court finds appropriate.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is an appeal of an order granting permanent custody of the parties' minor child to Respondent entered by the Honorable Jon M. Memmott on January 31, 1997. This case is before the Court today because the trial court relied on a finding of fact concerning Respondent's role as the primary care taker of the minor child for the two and a half years prior to the trial. However, up to the time that the parties separated both parties shared in the raising and care of their child. After separation, Respondent was granted temporary custody which forbade Appellant from continuing as a caretaker to his daughter.

Also, the court weighed Appellants prior criminal history against him when the incidents occurred before the birth of the parties' child.

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in Court Below.

The case came before the Honorable Jon M. Memmott at a Domestic Trial held November 22, 1996 and January 31, 1997. At which time, the court, "by the slimmest of margins," granted custody to Respondent. *Record* at 235.

C. Statements of the Facts

1. Appellant and Respondent had a child born June 4, 1994 out of wedlock and have never been married to each other.

2. Appellant has never denied and has admitted paternity during the entire course of the child's life.

3. Appellant and Respondent shared caretaking responsibility of their minor child until November 1995. During this time Appellant would care for their child from noon until midnight while Respondent worked and at other times convenient to the parties.

4. Appellant is and was at all times on permanent disability which allowed him to provide personal care to the child and Appellant provided care whenever it was needed.

5. The parties broke off their relationship in November 1995.

6. After breaking off the relationship, Respondent denied Appellant visitation, forcing Respondent to have to resort to legal action.

7. In January 1996, Commissioner Allphin, granted custody to Respondent and ordered that Appellant be granted visitation which was to be gradually increased over the next 90 days to the point that Appellant had overnight visitation.

8. In March 1996, just a few weeks before the 90-day period ordered by the Court, Respondent decided to move to Idaho under the pretext of being closer to her family rather than comply with overnight visitation.

9. The Commissioner ordered overnight visitation in favor of Appellant.

10. Respondent would only allow overnight visitation one or two days at a time causing much disruption in the child's life as she was constantly being driven back and forth between Utah and Idaho several times a month.

11. In May 1996 the Court ordered week long visitations.

12. During the time that Appellant did not have visitation he made numerous attempts to contact his child by telephone. Some times he would hear his child playing in the background, but Respondent would deny him contact with their child.

13. At trial Appellant testified to several alcohol related offenses occurring prior to the birth of the parties' child. *See Record* at 65-70.

A. Appellant was arrested for DUI on May 16, 1985.

B. Appellant was arrested for DUI on December 12, 1986.

C. Appellant was convicted of alcohol related reckless driving on April 21, 1989.

D. Appellant was convicted of having an open container of alcohol on February 25, 1992.

E. Appellant was convicted of Alcohol Related Reckless on February 25, 1994.

14. On January 31, 1997 after concluding the domestic trial, the Court issued its findings of facts and analyzed seven factors.

A. The Stability of the Parties.

i. Both parties have exhibited a high degree of immaturity.

“[A]s to the stability of both parties, I think particularly as to issues of maturity, I think both parties show a fairly high degree of immaturity for their age.” *Record* at 228. *See Also Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law* at ¶ 10 (A)

ii. That both parties are able to provide a suitable environment and are relatively equal under a review of the standard concerning the stability of their financial condition and lifestyle. *See Record* at 228-229 and *See Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law* at ¶ 10(A).

B. The effect of maintaining the primary custodial relation.

i. “Over the past 2½ years, the life of the child, the Defendant has provided more of the minor child’s primary care than the Plaintiff. As a result it is in the child’s best interests to maintain the Defendant’s primary custodial relation with the child” *Findings of Fact and Conclusion of Law* at ¶ 10 (B) *See also, Record* at 232.

ii. “I think it was clearly demonstrated in this case, however, that the plaintiff has done more primary care taking in a

significant factor than most fathers would in this case and has the ability and skill to provide primary care and has in the past.” *Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law* at ¶ 10 (B), *See also Record* at 232.

- C. Relative strength of the parties bonds with the child.
 - i. Both parties have an equally great love and bond with the child. *Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law* at ¶ 10(C).
- D. Relative ability of the parties to provide a suitable environment for the child.
 - i. The parties are of relatively equal ability to provide a suitable environment for the minor child. *Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law* at ¶ 10(D).
- E. Character and emotional stability of each party.
 - i. The Plaintiff’s five alcohol related traffic offenses cast a negative light on his character.
 - ii. The Defendant’s character is more favorable when compared to Plaintiff’s in relation to the child’s best interest. *Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law* at ¶ 10(E).

F. Commitment to provide care for the child and the relative parenting skills of the parties.

i. This factor favored neither party. *Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law* at ¶ 10(F).

G. Ability and willingness of each party to facilitate the visitation of the minor child with the noncustodial parent.

i. “The ability and willingness to provide visitation would clearly favor the plaintiff in this case.” *Record* at 234. *See also Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law* at ¶ 10(G).

15. In summing the factors the court reasoned that “. . . two of the factors [favor] the mother probably more than the father. One factor favors the father probably at a significant level and all other factors being equal.” *Record* at 234-235.

16. After weighing the relative factors the found made its ruling: “Given those, the Court would find, and by the slimmest of margins in this, that the mother is more suitable on the factors and would award custody to the mother in this case with liberal visitation.” *Record* at 235.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court abused its discretion in awarding permanent custody of the parties minor child to the Respondent. There were two ways in which the court abused its discretion. First, the court used the effects of a temporary custody order and gave weight to Respondent having custody of the child prior to the trial. The sole reason that Appellant was unable to share in the custody of his daughter during the two and a half years prior to trial was because of the temporary order. From the time that his daughter was born to the date that temporary custody was awarded, Appellant shared in the upbringing and raising of his daughter as an equal caretaker. Utah case law prohibits the reliance on a temporary order when issuing an order of permanent custody. As the court should not have relied on the effects of the temporary order and the parties shared in the caretaking of the child before the issuance of the order, the trial court abused its discretion.

A second abuse of discretion came when the trial court placed undue weight on the Appellant's prior alcohol related offenses. Offenses which occurred before the Appellant knew that Respondent was pregnant with his daughter. Upon learning of the impending birth of child, Appellant turned his life around and had no further offenses related to alcohol. The failure of the trial court to take note that Appellant had no alcohol related offenses in the two and a half years between the birth of child and the date of trial was an abuse of discretion. The weight that the court put on this issue went directly to the court finding that the factor of character favored the Respondent.

A review of the factors taking account the abuse of discretion by the trial court, leaves six factors favoring neither party over the other and one factor favoring Appellant. Therefore the case should be remanded to the District Court to review the issue of permanent custody.

ARGUMENT

B. Custody Under a Temporary Support Order.

The trial court abused its discretion in using the factor that Respondent had been the primary caretaker when the sole reason she was the primary caretaker was because she had been awarded custody under a temporary court order. Up until the time that the trial court granted temporary custody, both parties shared in raising their child. Effectively, the parties were joint caretakers until they separated.

The Utah Supreme Court has clearly ruled that temporary custody orders are not to be treated as permanent custody. As the Court held in *Tucker*: “A temporary custody order is only that, temporary. . . . It is not to be treated as permanent custody. . . . Accordingly, this court has held that a temporary order should not be given the weight of a permanent order.” 910 P.2d at 1215-1216. The rationale for not giving a temporary order the same weight as a permanent order is quite clear:

If a temporary order of custody were to be given permanent status subject to *Hogge*’s changed-circumstances test, no party would ever stipulate to a temporary arrangement and every hearing on temporary custody would involve time-consuming presentation of witnesses, both expert and lay, as

well as other types of evidence. In short, a temporary custody hearing would become a permanent custody hearing.

Id. at 1216

In the present case now before the court, the trial court clearly abused its discretion by relying on the Respondent's temporary custody contrary to the rule in *Tucker*. In reviewing the factors it considered in determining custody, the court ruled that for the most part the parties were equal in all but three factors (*See Record* at 228-235). The two facts that favored Respondent were:

- 1) Respondent's custodial relationship with the child, and
- 2) Respondent's character and emotional stability. *See Record* at 234.

With regards the first of these factors, clearly, the court should not have favored the Respondent because she was the primary caretaker. As the Court acknowledged, prior to the District Court granting Respondent temporary custody, both parties shared equally in providing care for the minor child. Appellant did not choose to forego custody of the child. In fact, he did all there was in his limited power to be an active part of his child life. As the trial court pointed out, Appellant "...has done more primary care taking in a significant factor than most fathers would in this case and has the ability and skill to provide primary care and has in the past." *Record* at 232. Appellant's hands were tied by the temporary order. The Court in effect issued a temporary order, without benefit of a full evidentiary hearing and custody evaluation which gave one party *temporary* and

then used the temporary order as one of the basis for denying him visitation. In effect, it is the concern expressed in *Tucker, supra* to life.

The appropriate way for the trial judge to have addressed the issue of custody was set forth in *Tucker*. After the expiration of the temporary custody period,

[a]ssuming each party remains fit and proper to serve as the custodial parent, in order for plaintiff to be successful in seeking custody, she need not make a showing of changed circumstances in the usual sense that is required to modify an order of *permanent* custody. She need only make a showing that an award of custody to her would best serve the interests of the child.

Tucker at 1216 citing *Boals v. Boals*, 664 P.2d 1191, 1194 (Utah 1983) (emphasis in original). Therefore, all Appellant had to show was that it would be in the best interest of the child for him to be granted custody. The Court should not have found that the Respondent was the primary caretaker. The evidence was that before the Court intervened, the parties were equal in providing care for the minor child.

If the factor of temporary custody is given its proper weight, that is, equal to both, Respondent is left with only the factor of her character and emotional stability in her favor. She wins the benefit of the doubt in this case because she does not have the history of alcohol offenses that the Court notes exist on Appellant's record. This is, in effect, the flip side of that issue, which is addressed later.

The Court listed one factor in Appellant's favor. The court found that Appellant would be able and willing to provide visitation to Respondent. *See Record* at 234. The

Court recognized that the Respondent had systematically attempted to deny Appellant visitation and tried to deny him the father/daughter relationship he was entitled to enjoy. This was summed up by Appellant when he testified that the Respondent had wanted to know when he would accept the fact that he was nothing more than a sperm donor. *See Record* at 47-48.

Even with the errors by the Court indicated above, the court recognized and expressed its knowledge of the relatively equal position of the parties. After addressing and weighing the relative factors the court ruled, “Given those, the Court would find, and *by the slimmest of margins* in this, that the mother is more suitable on the factors and would award custody to the mother in this case with liberal visitation.” *Record* at 235 (emphasis added). Taking out the court’s reliance on the temporary custody order, it is possible that the court would have come to a different outcome on the issue of custody.

The court in determining custody should look to the reason why one party that had been a caretaker in the past had his or her caretaker status changed. Specifically, the court should look at the “...reasons for having relinquished custody in the past.” *Sukin v. Sukin*, 842 P.2d 922, 924-925 (Utah App. 1992). Appellant in the present case, had shared in the care taking of the minor child prior to the order of the court granting temporary custody to Respondent. From the time that the child was born to the issuance of the temporary order, Appellant took an active role in the caretaking of his daughter. The present factual situation is not one where the Appellant decided to have nothing to

do with his daughter. Instead he fought the entire time for custody and access to his daughter. Had the court not granted temporary custody to the Respondent, Appellant would have continued to take an active role as a caretaker of his daughter.

Additionally, the trial court failed to take into account the fact that Appellant was on permanent disability and would be able to provide personal rather than surrogate care to their child. In *Sukin*, this Court stated that the court should consider the relative position of the parties to provide personal rather than surrogate care. 842 P.2d at 924-925. In the present case, Appellant would clearly be able to provide twenty four hour a day care for his daughter. He is on disability and is unable to work. This disability allows him to stay at home and be with his daughter. On the other hand, Respondent either works or is seeking employment as a nurse and is unable to provide the attention that Appellant can provide.

Considering the Court found for the Respondent by only the slimmest of margins found in favor of Appellant on the custody issue, it is clear that the balance would have shifted if the Court had not erred in viewing the Respondent as the primary caretaker and failed to take into account that the Appellant could provide personal care, whereas Respondent would need surrogate care

C. Appellant's Prior Criminal History.

In addition to the reliance on the temporary support order, the trial court also weighed heavily Plaintiffs prior alcohol related traffic offenses. *See Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law* at ¶10(E). This is in fact the basis for the Court finding that the “character issue” was in balance in favor of the Respondent. The Court erred in giving weight to these old offenses. The dates of those offenses had an eight-year time span from 1986 to 1994. The last offense occurred several months before the birth of Appellant’s daughter. After learning that Respondent was pregnant with his child, Appellant actively sought and in fact did turn his life around to become more responsible. No offenses occurred between birth and trial, a period of almost three years.

The use of the offenses by the trial court was an abuse of discretion as it related to Appellant’s ability to provide care for his child. In fact, the Court, as noted above stated that Appellant did an exceptional job in that area. After the birth of the child, Appellant kept his record clear of any similar offense in order to be a good father. He learned responsibility for his actions. Appellant had no offenses between 1994 and 1997.

The reason for the court to consider alcoholic offenses is clear. In *Sukin*, this Court stated that the trial court should consider the “. . .significant impairment of ability to function as a parent through drug abuse, excessive drinking, or other cause . . .” 842 P.2d at 924. Appellant’s prior offenses do not effect or impair his ability to function as a father. In fact the trial court specifically stated that Appellate was a adequate father and at least as suitable a parent as the Respondent. As the trial court Judge stated: “I think it

was clearly demonstrated in this case . . . that the plaintiff has done more primary care taking in a significant factor than most fathers in this case and has the ability and skill to provide primary care and has in the past.” *Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law* at ¶ 10(B), *see also, Record* at 232.

Also, both parties were found to be able to provide a suitable environment and were found relatively equal under a review of their financial condition and their lifestyle. *See Record* at 228-229; *see also, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law* at ¶10(A). The court clearly viewed the parties as equal in their ability to care for their daughter. The court admitted that Appellant had given primary care to his daughter in the past. But for the temporary order, he would have continued this level of care. The above statements are inconsistent with finding the character issue favored Respondent and should have been held against Appellant. Without the character issue, the Court had to find that the parties had one factor favoring each party. However, as shown above, the primary caretaker issue is a red herring and should not have been considered as a factor in favor of Respondent. Appellant and Respondent are therefore equal in their ability to care for the minor child. In effect, there is no evidence showing indicating where it would be in the best interest of the child to reside. The matter is evenly balanced, except for one factor. The Respondent repeatedly interfered with the relationship between Appellant and Respondent. The opposite was not found to be true. Therefore, with proper evaluation,

all factors are in balance between the parties except the last. Appellant should have been awarded custody “by the slimmest of margins.”

CONCLUSION

The trial court abused its discretion in awarding permanent custody of the parties minor child to the Respondent. In analyzing seven factors, the court found that in all but three, the parties were equal. The court found that two factors favored Respondent: the effect of maintaining the custodial relationship and the character and emotional stability of the parties. One factor was found to favor Appellant: the ability and willingness to facilitate the visitation of the minor child with the other parent.

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