1998

Mathie v. Gough : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court properly weighed the effects of the temporary custody order and the Petitioner's prior criminal history in awarding permanent custody of the minor child to the Respondent. This Court has emphatically stated, "Only where trial court action is so flagrantly unjust as to constitute an abuse of discretion should the appellate forum interpose its own judgment." Wall v. Wall, 700 P.2d 1124, 1125 (Utah 1985). In order to show a flagrant abuse of discretion, the Appellant must show that the findings of fact were inadequate to support the custody award, are not supported by the evidence, or that the trial court erred in law in determining custody.¹

In the findings of fact presented in the case at hand, the trial court set forth seven factors supporting the permanent custody award to the Respondent. All seven factors were clearly supported by the evidence presented at trial. All seven factors are pursuant to the legal standards in determining custody which the Supreme Court has set, focusing on the best interest of the child and utilizing the suggested factors in determining custody found in the Utah Supreme Court decision, Hutchison v. Hutchison, 649 P.2d 38 (Utah 1982). Further, the trial court's analysis and weight given to each factor are reasonable and fully explained in its findings of fact.

Appellant specifically contends that undue weight was given to a temporary custody order in awarding permanent custody of the minor child to the Respondent pending the two

¹See Tucker v. Tucker, 910 P.2d 1209 (Utah 1996); See also Paryzek v. Paryzek, 776 P.2d 78 (Utah 1989).

and a half years prior to the trial. Utah case law clearly indicates that if a temporary custody period before the trial was lengthy, the factor of temporary custody becomes of greater importance in determining permanent custody. Paryzek v. Paryzek, 776 P.2d 78 (Utah 1989). In the case at hand, the child had been in the physical custody of the Respondent since the child's birth and was happy and well-adjusted in Respondent's care. Further, the court found that the child had lived much more with the mother than the father and that it was in the child's best interest to maintain the stability of the primary custodial bond. Because no custody evaluation was performed, all other factors being equal, the court properly found that the child's interests would be best promoted by maintaining the prior, stable and healthy custodial relationship with the Respondent.

Appellant further contends that undue weight was given to the fact that Petitioner committed five alcohol-related offenses prior to the birth of the child. Again, Utah law clearly states that in determining custody, the trial court "shall consider the best interests of the child and the past conduct and demonstrated moral standards of each of the parties. . ." (Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-10, emphasis added). At trial, the Respondent admitted to alcohol-related offenses in 1985, 1986, 1989, 1992, and 1994, which the court allowed as evidence to show a pattern in the Respondent's character. The court, noting that Respondent had committed the alcohol-related offenses prior to the birth of the child, also noted that character does not change overnight with the birth of a child. In determining Respondent's character, the court also considered the fact that the Respondent brought his kitchen calendar portraying semi-nude women to court. As further evidence of the Petitioner's character, the

court considered the continuing problems between the parties regarding visitation. In light of the fact that the Respondent has no criminal record of any kind, the court did not abuse its discretion by finding the factor of character in favor of the Respondent. It was reasonable and proper for the court to find in favor of the Respondent in determining custody, considering Petitioner's prior alcohol-related offenses combined with the Petitioner's present lack of judgment and lack of sensitivity to the best interests of the minor child.

Finally, the trial court's decision should not be disturbed because the trial court was in the best position to look at the totality of the circumstances in making the custody decision. This Court has stated that "A determination of the 'best interests of the child' frequently turns on numerous factors which the trial court is best suited to assess, given its proximity to the parties and the circumstances." Wall at 1125. By Personally observing the parties, the trial court was able to assess the parties' true characters, and make the proper decision regarding the best interest of the minor child.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY WEIGHED THE EFFECT OF THE TEMPORARY CUSTODY ORDER IN DETERMINING THE BEST INTEREST OF THE CHILD AND IN AWARDING CUSTODY OF THE MINOR CHILD TO THE RESPONDENT.

In the landmark case, Hutchison v. Hutchison, 649 P.2d 38 (Utah 1982), the Supreme

Court of Utah stated that a custody award should be determined solely by reference to the best interests of the child. Id. at 40. The Court further stated that some factors the trial court may consider in determining the child's best interest are as follows:

The preference of the child; keeping siblings together, the relative strength of the child's bond with one or both of the prospective custodians; and, in appropriate cases, *the general interest in continuing previously determined custody arrangements where the child is happy and well adjusted*. Other factors relate primarily to the prospective custodians' character or status or to their capacity or willingness to function as parents: *moral character and emotional stability*; duration and depth of desire for custody; ability to provide personal rather than surrogate care; significant impairment of ability to function as a parent through drug abuse, excessive drinking, or other cause; reasons for having relinquished custody in the past; religious compatibility with the child; kinship, including, in extraordinary circumstances, stepparent status; and financial condition.

Id. (emphasis added).

Appellant contends that the trial court improperly weighed the previously determined custody arrangement. However, it is clear from the court's statement in Hutchison that an appropriate factor to consider when determining permanent custody is the temporary custody arrangement. The question then becomes whether the trial court blatantly abused its discretion by giving the previously determined custody arrangement too much weight.

Appellant cites Tucker v. Tucker, 910 P.2d 1209 (Utah 1996), which states that temporary orders should not be treated as permanent custody orders which require a substantial and material change of circumstance to modify. However, Appellant failed to cite the rest of the opinion which states,

This is not to say that the environment in which a child has lived prior to the final custody hearing should be ignored in determining initial custody. As long as the trial court did not abuse its discretion, it was entitled to accord no more or less significance to the existing custody arrangement than it deemed appropriate.

Id. at 1215.

In fact, the Utah Court of Appeals specifically held in Paryzek v. Paryzek, 776 P.2d 78 (Utah 1989), that the trial court erred in explicitly disregarding the fact that the minor child had resided with one of the parents for two and one-half years prior to trial on a temporary custody award. The Court further held that a trial court must examine a child's need for stability, and therefore, consider prior custody arrangements, including the duration of those arrangements, and the potential harm to the child if the arrangement is changed. Id. at 82.

The next question regarding how much weight should be given to the temporary custody arrangement is also addressed by the Court in Paryzek:

What particular weight to be accorded those factors in a given case must depend on the duration of the initial custody arrangement . . . A very short custody arrangement of a few months, even if nurturing to some extent, is not entitled to as much weight as a similar arrangement of substantial duration . . . Because of the length of time of the temporary custody, that factor becomes one of relatively greater importance in determining permanent custody . . . This was a close case . . . Where the call is a close one, we believe the child's interests will best be promoted by maintaining the prior, stable and healthy arrangement. That is, where the evidence was otherwise inconclusive . . the paramount consideration of stability tips in [that parent's] favor and warrants awarding custody to [that parent].

Id. at 82-83.²

Thus, because of the length of the temporary custody order, greater weight should have been given to that factor. The courts try to avoid “ping-ponging” the child from one parent to the other unless there are specific findings showing that it would be in the child’s best interest. The evidence at trial showed that the minor child was thriving as a normal child in the Respondent’s care and custody. Therefore, the court properly found that it would be in the best interest of the child to continue the stability of this thriving custodial relationship.

POINT II.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY WEIGHED THE PETITIONER’S PRIOR CRIMINAL HISTORY IN AWARDING CUSTODY OF THE MINOR CHILD TO THE RESPONDENT.

In addition to the Hutchison factors, Section 30-3-10 of the Utah Code states in determining custody, the court “shall consider the best interests of the child and the past conduct and demonstrated moral standards of each of the parties.” In a Utah Court of Appeals case, Hansen v. Hansen, 736 P.2d 1055 (Utah 1987), evidence of respondent’s convictions for money order theft, check alteration, and making a false statement on a loan

²See also Pusey v. Pusey, 750 P.2d 599 (Utah 1988)(party awarded custody did not act wrongly in obtaining temporary custody); Hogge v. Hogge, 649 P.2d 51 (Utah 1982),(in any determination of the best interests of the child, it is appropriate for the trial court to consider the child’s present custody arrangement).

application were considered in determining permanent custody of the minor child.³

In the present case, the trial court, overruling Petitioner's objections to the admission of evidence relating to these criminal charges, stated that the evidence would be appropriate to show Petitioner's pattern of behavior, although the weight the court gave those charges may be less considering the fact that no charges had occurred since the birth of the minor child. In its findings, the trial court stated that the criminal charges were indicative of disputes the parties were having over visitation. Appellant contends that his past criminal history does not affect his parenting ability; however, the court need not find one parent inadequate to award custody to the other.

The court also considered Petitioner's calendar of semi-clad women, which darkened the Appellant's character and sensitivity to meet child's needs. "The plaintiff had the record and I think he's to be commended that it has changed but I still think that lifestyle character, it's part of his character and lifestyle. I think there has been an explanation as to the calendar and the concern of the calendar had to do with .. His sensitivity to those factors in relation to long-term, if I'm going to award custody in bringing up a long lady, sensitivity to those issues of having and presently those. And I think it exhibited a lack of sensitivity which would affect, some effect on the character of the plaintiff." (R. at 204, p. 231).

Because character was not the only factor in determining custody and because no

³ See also Smith v. Smith, 725 P.2d at 425 (several of the factors used in reaching a custody determination that was in the best interests of the minor child included: appellant's history of assaultive behavior; respondent's history of criminal behavior . . . Each of these factors is relevant in a custody determination.)

custody evaluation had been performed, it was appropriate for the court to look at the Petitioner's criminal history. In addition to the Petitioner's prior criminal history, it was appropriate for the trial court to be concerned with the stability, character and sensitivity of person raising a minor child. The trial court did not err in weighing the effect of the Petitioner's criminal history because it was required to make adequate findings regarding the best interests of the child and past conduct and demonstrated moral character of each of the parents, the court found it in Respondent's favor that she had moved to Idaho

POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT IS BEST SUITED TO ASSESS THE NUMEROUS FACTORS WHICH DETERMINE THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILD, GIVEN ITS PROXIMITY TO THE PARTIES AND THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE SPECIFIC CASE.

The standard of review in custody cases is as follows:

Only where trial court action is so flagrantly unjust as to constitute an abuse of discretion should the appellate forum interpose its own judgment. In the instant case the evidence, depending upon how it is viewed, could support a custody award to either party. In such case, we will defer to the judgment of the trial court.

Wall at 1125.

The standard of review is so high because the Court realizes that the trial court is in the best position to observe the circumstances of a specific case. No one set list of factors concerning the best interests of the child can govern custody determinations in all cases.

Therefore, the Court defers to the trial court absent a flagrant abuse of discretion and allows trial courts to give different weight to different factors.

The Court has stated:

Proper findings of fact ensure that the ultimate custody award follows logically from and is supported by, the evidence and the controlling legal principles. We understand this to mean that a custody award must be firmly anchored on findings of fact that (1) are sufficiently detailed, (2) include enough facts to disclose the process through which the ultimate conclusion is reached (3) indicate the process is logical and properly supported, and (4) are not clearly erroneous.” Smith at 426

In the case at hand, the trial court has clearly stated its findings, which are logically and legally based. The personal observations of the trial court regarding the Petitioner’s character, especially in regard to the indecent calendar, which is barely referenced in the record, underscores the importance of the Court deferring to the trial court’s judgment in a close case where the trial court has properly based its findings. Therefore, the Court should defer to the judgment of the trial court in this case.


CONCLUSION

The Court has stated, “So long as the discretion it exercises is within the confines of the legal standards we have set, and the facts and reasons for the decision are set forth fully in appropriate findings and conclusions, we will not disturb the resulting award.” Davis v. Davis, 749 P.2d 647, 648 (Utah 1988).

The court did not abuse its discretion in finding that the previous custody placement of the child and the Petitioner’s previous criminal history favored the Respondent in

awarding permanent custody to the Respondent. It is uncontroverted law that the trial court not only should, but must consider the previous custody arrangement when the temporary period is lengthy, as in the present case. It is also clear that the trial court must consider the past conduct and demonstrated moral standards of the parties when considering the child's best interest. The Court has stated that it will defer its judgment to the trial court in close cases. In the case at hand, the trial court's personal observations were invaluable in discerning the parties' true characters, and may have been one of the determining factors in this case, sliding the scale "even by the slimmest of margins."